RECEIVED

May 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. James E. Chellis, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-001127

1st Franklin Financial
Corporation

Respondent,

v.

Roby A. Adams

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John R. Cantrell, Jr., SC Bar # 10309
Cantrell Legal, PC
108 Phillips Court
St. Matthews, SC 29135-8582
(843) 797-2454
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND TO IMPOSE STRICT LIABILITY FOR A VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE § 37-5-108?**
2. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS THAT RESPONDENT FALSELY REPRESENTED THE AMOUNT OF THE DEBT THAT WAS DUE TO RESPONDENT FROM APPELLANT?**
3. **DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S RULE 59 MOTION IN REGARDS TO THE TWO OTHER ISSUES STATED ABOVE?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a grant of summary judgment to Respondent in regards to a portion of Appellant's counterclaims and the lower court's failure to make any changes to that Order in response to Appellant's filing of a Rule 59 motion to alter or amend that Order. Appellant is a South Carolina consumer who obtained a personal loan from Respondent, which is a finance company whose business involves making small personal loans to South Carolina consumers.

Most of the history of this case is not relevant to the issues on appeal, so Appellant will try to briefly recite so much of the case history as is necessary for the appeal. Also, hyperlinks are included below to authorities cited as often as possible, to make it easier for the court to locate those authorities.

Respondent/Plaintiff initially filed a debt collection case against Appellant/Defendant in Dorchester County magistrate court on April 19, 2016 (R. p. 139). However, this first case was dismissed due to Respondent's failure to file the required Authorization for Non-lawyer Representation form (SCCA761) with

the first Complaint. Respondent filed the current debt collection complaint against Appellant on September 22, 2016, also in magistrate court (R. p. 143). However, the case was transferred to circuit court on May 15, 2017 as a result of Appellant having filed an amended answer with consumer protection counterclaims that exceeded the magistrate court's jurisdictional limits. The second Complaint also alleged that \$9.08 less was owed on the personal loan than the first Complaint alleged, although no payments had been made by Appellant on the account (R. p. 143, par. 3). Those counterclaims included alleged violations of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code (SCCPC), the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (SCUTPA), and negligence per se. The current version of Appellant's answer is the Second Amended Answer & Counterclaims filed on August 27, 2019, which retains those same counterclaims, and adds some facts regarding alleged post-petition consumer protection violations, which are not involved in this appeal (R. p. 169).

On May 16, 2019, Respondent filed the partial summary judgment motion (“MSJ”) which is the subject of this appeal (R. p. 16), and then filed a Memorandum in support of its MSJ on July 15, 2019 (R. p. 17), and a Supplemental Memorandum on March 2, 2020 (R. p. 36). Appellant filed an Affidavit in support of his objection to the MSJ on March 2, 2020 (R. p. 59). The MSJ came before the trial court for hearing on March 5, 2020 (R. p. 180). On April 21, 2020, the trial court issued the Amended Order granting Respondent summary judgment on all issues requested by Respondent (“Amended Order” or “MSJ Order,” R. p. 3). In that Amended Order, the court ruled in favor of

Respondent as to Appellant's liability to Respondent on the personal loan, and ruled against Appellant on his counterclaims for false representation of the amount alleged due on the personal loan, unauthorized practice of law, and improper service of the first Complaint on Appellant's neighbor instead of on Appellant. The court also ruled that our legislature did not intend to impose strict liability for any violations of the SCCPC, S.C. Code § 37-5-108(5). Appellant filed a timely Rule 59 Motion to alter or amend the MSJ Order on May 1, 2020 (R. p. 96), and a brief in support on June 19, 2020 (R. p. 115), which the court denied summarily without a hearing by a Form 4 Order filed July 16, 2020 (R. p. 93). Respondent also filed a Response in Opposition to the Rule 59 Motion on June 26, 2020 (R. p. 125). Appellant then filed a timely Notice of Appeal with this court on August 14, 2020, which Notice appealed both the Amended Order granting partial summary judgment to Respondent and the Rule 59 Order (R. p. 305). Respondent thereafter filed a Motion to Dismiss the appeal on September 11, 2020, which was denied by this court on October 14, 2020.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCF.” *Bovain v. Canal Ins.*, 383 S.C. 100, 105, 678 S.E.2d 422, 424 (2009). Rule 56(c), SCRCF, states that summary judgment should be granted only “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” “In determining whether any triable

issues of fact exist, the evidence and all inferences which can be reasonably drawn from the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, [381 S.C. 326, 329-30, 673 S.E.2d 801, 802 \(2009\)](#).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE SOUTH CAROLINA LEGISLATURE DID NOT INTEND TO IMPOSE STRICT LIABILITY FOR A VIOLATION OF S.C. CODE § 37-5-108.

At the bottom of page 9 of the MSJ Order (R. p. 11), the trial court holds that the South Carolina legislature did not intend to impose strict liability for violations of the factors set forth in S.C. Code § [37-5-108\(5\)](#), but the court cites no authority for this conclusion, except for a cite to the language of S.C. Code § [37-5-108\(2\)](#). That section provides, in pertinent part as follows: “(2) With respect to a consumer credit transaction, if the court as a matter of law finds that a person has engaged in, is engaging in, or is likely to engage in unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt arising from that transaction, the court may grant an injunction. In addition, the consumer has a cause of action to recover actual damages and, in an action other than a class action, a right to recover from the person violating this section a penalty in the amount determined by the court of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars.” The court appears to be focusing on the language from the statute which says “if the court finds as a matter of law” in support of its conclusion that the legislature intended to grant discretion

to the court to determine if a violation of the factors in S.C. Code § [37-5-108\(5\)](#) constitutes unconscionable debt collection conduct, but the language of the statute does not support this conclusion. First, notice that the language in Sec. [37-5-108\(2\)](#) uses both the phrase “if the court finds as a matter of law” and then later in that section “a penalty in the amount determined by the court.” It appears to the Defendant that all this language is intended to accomplish is to indicate that it is the court, and not a jury, that makes the determination whether the law has been violated and, if so, how much of a penalty is appropriate for that violation. Indeed, our Court of Appeals reached that very same conclusion in the case of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Smith, 398 S.C. 487, 497-98, 730 S.E.2d 328 (Ct. App. 2012); however, our Supreme Court ordered that the case be depublished and have no precedential effect in 2014, so we don't know if this holding is still good law or not.

The trial court's interpretation that a violation of the factors set forth in Sec. [37-5-108\(5\)](#) does not give rise to a violation of that section unless the court determines, in its subjective discretion, that the conduct was unconscionable is contrary to the holding of our state Supreme Court in the disciplinary case of In the Matter of Sean Bannon Zenner, 348 S.C. 499, 560 S.E.2d 406 at FN3 (S.C. 2002) where the court says as follows:

“Two statutes govern debt collectors' conduct when contacting debtors. S.C. Code Ann. § [37-5-108](#) (Supp. 2000) prohibits a debt collector from: (1) threatening to use criminal prosecution against the consumer; (2) communicating with the consumer at frequent intervals during a twenty-four hour period or at unusual hours so that it is a reasonable inference the

primary purpose of the communication was to harass the consumer; (3) communicating with a consumer at any unusual time or place known or which should be known to be inconvenient to the consumer, with convenient time being between 8 a.m. and 9 p.m.; (4) contacting a consumer at his place of employment after the consumer or his employer has requested in writing that no contacts be made; (5) using obscene or profane language or language the natural consequence of which is to abuse the hearer or reader. The Federal Consumer Protection Act, [15 U.S.C. §§ 1671](#), et. seq., also prohibits the debt collector from engaging in the conduct listed above.”

Note that the Supreme Court simply says that this statute “prohibits” a debt collector from engaging in any of these types of debt collection conduct, without any deference to a court's subjective discretion to determine whether or not such conduct is unconscionable. This interpretation of the statute is in accord with Appellant's view that a violation of any of the “factors” listed in Sec. [37-5-108\(5\)](#) creates strict liability for the violation. Defendant's approach is further supported by the Supreme Court's citation to the Federal Consumer Protection Act, which includes the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) as [Title VIII of that Act](#), since the FDCPA is a strict liability statute. [Allen v. LaSalle Bank, NA](#), 629 F. 3d 364 at FN7 (3rd Cir. 2011)(citing cases). Note also that the definition section of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code (“SCCPC”), in [Sec. 37-1-102\(2\)\(f\)](#), indicates that one of the underlying purposes of the SCCPC is to “conform the regulation of consumer credit transactions to the policies of the Federal Consumer Credit Protection Act,” which means that the strict liability standard of the FDCPA

should be applied when interpreting the SCCPC as well.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENT ON APPELLANT'S COUNTERCLAIMS THAT RESPONDENT FALSELY REPRESENTED THE AMOUNT OF THE DEBT THAT WAS DUE TO RESPONDENT FROM APPELLANT.

First, there is currently no dispute by Respondent that the \$9.08 higher amount alleged due from Appellant in the first collection lawsuit was not false. Plaintiff now characterizes it as a “discrepancy,” “scrivener's error,” or “minor accounting error” (R. pp. 40-43) thereby admitting that it was incorrect. The dispute is over whether the \$9.08 overcharge claimed due in the first lawsuit creates a material issue of fact that precludes granting summary judgment to Respondent on Appellant's SCCPC counterclaim.

Also, although intent is irrelevant in regards to a strict liability statute like the SCCPC, Respondent claims that the lower amount alleged due in the second collection lawsuit was evidence that Respondent “voluntarily corrected” the amount alleged due from Appellant without any assistance from Appellant (R. pp. 41-42). However, the deposition testimony of Respondent's branch manager Theresa Schwerin, which was taken on January 17, 2019 well after the filing of the second collection lawsuit on September 22, 2016, indicates Respondent's belief at that time that the amount claimed due in the first suit was the correct amount due on the account, and that Plaintiff made no error in alleging that two different amounts were due in the two collection lawsuits. (See Appellant's Affidavit filed March 2, 2020, Exhibit Depo Excerpts Theresa Schwerin, R. p. 64, ll. 17-25 through p.65, ll.

1-2). So Respondent's current position that the amount alleged due in the first lawsuit was actually incorrect is a recent change of position for Respondent.

Originally, at the hearing on Respondent's Summary Judgment Motion, the court indicated that it was going to deny Respondent's Motion in regards to Appellant's SCCPC counterclaim (R. 77, ll. 5-8). Therefore, Respondent's counsel prepared a proposed order denying the MSJ as to Appellant's counterclaims (R. pp. 103-113); however, in the email from the court to the parties attached as an exhibit to Appellant's Rule 59 Motion (R. p. 101), the court indicated that it had changed its mind and was now asking Respondent's counsel to amend his proposed order to include those changes. The court's email said that the trial judge was basing this decision on the legal doctrine of litigation privilege for pleadings filed in a lawsuit and on the fact that it would create a "chilling effect" on creditors who are owed a debt. The court also instructed Respondent's counsel to cite case law in support of the court's conclusion that the allegations of the Complaint are protected by litigation privilege, although the court itself provided no authority for that conclusion. On pages 7-8 of the April 21, 2020 MSJ Order, the court deals with the false representation counterclaim (R. p. 9-10). The final MSJ incorporates the changes requested by the court, and cites a case that purports to stand for the proposition that "pleadings are privileged." That case is Pond Place Partners, Inc. v. Poole, 351 S.C. 1, 22, 567 S.E.2d 881, 892 (Ct. App. 2002). However, this case does not support the court's conclusion. *Pond Place* was a slander of title suit for the filing of a *lis pendens* in connection with a declaratory judgment action involving real estate. The Court of Appeals ruled that the *lis pendens* was filed in

connection with the litigation, and as such was absolutely privileged and could not form the basis for a slander of title action. *Id* at 32. Of course, Appellant hasn't alleged any action against Respondent for slander of title, or for any other defamation action. Therefore, litigation privilege is not at issue and *Pond Place* does not apply.

However, even if common law litigation privilege did apply to the SCCPC allegations of Appellant's counterclaims, Respondent could not prevail as a matter of law in its attempt to defeat the false representation counterclaim. That is because any common law privilege that might apply would have been abrogated by the creation of the SCCPC, since that statute would replace any contrary common law that might have existed prior to its creation. Indeed, although Appellant is not aware of a South Carolina state court case that has addressed this issue, there is a 4th Circuit Court of Appeals case directly on point in regards to the very similar FDCPA provisions. 15 U.S.C. Sec.1692e(2) makes any false, deceptive, or misleading representation about the amount of an alleged debt a violation of federal law. In an FDCPA case brought by a consumer (“Sayyed”) against a debt collector (“W&A”) for false allegations allegedly made by W&A in a summary judgment motion filed in the case, including an allegedly false allegation about the amount of the debt owed by Sayyed, W&A argued that the allegations in its summary judgment motion were subject to common law litigation immunity and therefore not actionable as an FDCPA violation. Sayyed v. Wolpoff & Abramson, 485 F. 3d 226 (4th Cir. 2007). However, the 4th Circuit ruled that there was no common law litigation immunity exception in the text of the FDCPA. *Sayyed* at 230. In support

of this decision, the 4th Circuit also cited the United States Supreme Court decision in [Heintz v. Jenkins, 514 U.S. 291, 293, 115 S.Ct. 1489, 131 L.Ed.2d 395 \(1995\)](#), which was another FDCPA suit alleging a false statement regarding the amount of a debt, which statement appeared in a settlement letter sent by the creditor's attorney to the consumer's attorney. In *Heintz*, the Supreme Court ruled that the FDCPA does apply to lawyers engaged in litigation, and noted that a former version of the FDCPA, prior to its amendment, had included an exemption from the definition of debt collectors for lawyers, but that exemption had been repealed. Similarly, as noted earlier, in South Carolina our state Supreme Court did not note any exemption from the SCCPC for lawyers engaged in collection activity in the *Zenner* disciplinary matter previously referenced above. Remember also that the SCCPC states that it should be construed in such a way as to conform to the policies expressed in the FDCPA. *See* S.C. Code § 37-1-102(2)(f). Appellant therefore believes that there should be no common law litigation privilege for violations of the SCCPC either.

In the MSJ Order, the court further claims that the \$9.08 overcharge in the first collection suit cannot be characterized as fraudulent, deceptive, misleading, or unconscionable (R. 9, 1st par.). However, we must allow the statute to define its own terms, and not attempt to define those terms in a vacuum. It is clear that the \$9.08 overcharge in the first lawsuit was a false representation of the amount of Appellant's debt. That alone is sufficient to make it “fraudulent, deceptive or misleading” under S.C. Code Sec. 37-5-108(5)(c)(1), which then makes it “unconscionable” debt collection conduct under S.C. Code Sec. 37-5-108(2).

Under the Supreme Court *Zenner* case mentioned above, such conduct is considered to be “prohibited,” and there is no reason why creditor collection conduct prohibited by our Supreme Court should be tolerated in any court in this state.

Although the trial court's concerns about possible litigation privilege preventing the false representation in Respondent's Complaint about the amount of Appellant's debt being actionable under the SCCPC seem to be restricted solely to the false representation contained in the Complaint (R. p. 101), in the Conclusion paragraph of the court's MSJ Order, the court bars Appellant from presenting any testimony or evidence at any future proceeding in this matter regarding Respondent's false representation of the amount of the debt (R. pp. 13-14). This provision goes beyond any false representation that was contained solely in the first Complaint. At the hearing on Plaintiff's MSJ the trial court had initially ruled that Appellant's SCCPC counterclaim regarding the false representation would survive, and that it was therefore unnecessary for Appellant to present all of his evidence regarding his counterclaims at that time (R. p. 276, ll. 15-20, p. 277, ll.3-21). In addition to the false representation about the amount of the debt contained in the first Complaint, Appellant alleges that Respondent has made other false representations regarding the amount of the debt, including representations in both Appellant's branch manager's deposition testimony (Appellant's Affidavit, Schwerin depo excerpts, R. p. 64, ll. 17-25 through p.65, ll. 1-2; p. 65, ll. 13-25 through p. 66, ll. 1-8), and in a Notice of Acceleration letter that was sent to Appellant prior to the filing of Respondent's Complaint (*Id* at p. 68, ll. 15-25 through p. 69, ll. 1-25).

Therefore, the language in the Conclusion paragraph is overly broad. Even if this court were to find that the grant of summary judgment to Respondent on the false representation of the amount of the debt in Respondent's first Complaint was proper, Appellant asks this court to find that this ruling should be restricted to the false representation contained in the first Complaint, so that Appellant will not be prejudiced by his reliance upon the court's oral ruling at the MSJ hearing in this matter, and so that Appellant will be allowed to present evidence of other false representations regarding the amount of the debt at any future hearing or trial in this case, since Appellant's evidence on this issue creates a material issue of fact as to whether Respondent has made false representations about the amount of the debt aside from the ones that appear in the first Complaint.

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