**RECEIVED**  
**Feb 16 2021**  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James E. Chellis, Master-In-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-001127

1st Franklin Financial Corporation .....Respondent,

v.

Roby A. Adams.....Appellant.

**RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

Robert H. Jordan (SC Bar No. 13612)  
Robert C. Osborne III (SC Bar No. 101827)  
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP  
200 Meeting Street, Suite 301  
Telephone: 843.727.2650  
[robertjordan@parkerpoe.com](mailto:robertjordan@parkerpoe.com)  
[robertosborne@parkerpoe.com](mailto:robertosborne@parkerpoe.com)

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

### **ARGUMENT**

South Carolina courts strive to “secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive determination of every action.” Rule 1, SCRCPP. This case has been none of those things. Adams received the loan at issue on October 23, 2015, almost six years ago. 1st Franklin first filed suit in Magistrate’s Court to collect the debt on April 19, 2016. Despite Adams always acknowledging that he owed money to 1st Franklin, it took four years of litigation to resolve 1st Franklin’s claim against him. Still, almost five years after it began, the case drags on. Adams’ counterclaims remain, and regardless of the outcome of this appeal, additional proceedings at the lower court are required to resolve an additional claim asserted by Adams which is not the subject of this appeal.

Throughout this case, and now on appeal, Adams has attempted to extend the SCCPC well beyond its stated goal of discouraging “unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2). Adams’ counterclaims are without merit, and are a clear attempt to delay and

to avoid his undisputed failure to repay the loan. For the reasons set forth below, 1st Franklin respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Master-In-Equity's Order in its entirety.

**I. BECAUSE THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY, AFTER CONSIDERING THE SOUTH CAROLINA CONSUMER PROTECTION CODE'S STATUTORY FACTORS, FOUND THAT 1ST FRANKLIN DID NOT ENGAGE IN "UNCONSCIONABLE CONDUCT IN COLLECTING A DEBT," THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY CORRECTLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF 1<sup>ST</sup> FRANKLIN.**

**A. The Plain Language of the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code Gives the Trial Court Discretion, After Considering Statutory Factors, in Deciding Whether a Creditor has Engaged in Unconscionable Conduct in Collecting a Debt.**

Adams argues that certain conduct, described as "factors" in S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(5) automatically gives rise to liability under the SCCPC. The Master-in-Equity held that it does not. Rather, the Master-in-Equity correctly held that under the SCCPC, a trial court has discretion, after considering the statutory "factors," to determine whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt in violation of the SCCPC. Adams' proposed interpretation of the SCCPC, an interpretation which strips the trial court of any judicial discretion and requires a finding of liability for any violation of the "factors" set forth in § 37-5-108(5), ignores the clear and unambiguous language of the SCCPC.

"The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intention of the legislature." *A.O. Smith Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control*, 428 S.C. 189, 202, 833 S.E.2d 451, 458 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *Centex Int'l, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 406 S.C. 132, 139, 750 S.E.2d 65, 69 (2013)). "A statutory provision should be given a reasonable and practical construction consistent with the purpose and policy expressed in the statute." *Id.* (citing *Lockwood Greene Eng'rs, Inc. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n*, 293 S.C. 447, 449, 361 S.E.2d 346, 347 (Ct. App. 1987)). "When interpreting the plain meaning of a statute, courts should not resort to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation." *State v. Jacobs*, 393 S.C. 584,

587, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011) (citing *Grazia v. S.C. State Plastering, LLC*, 390 S.C. 562, 569, 703 S.E.2d 197, 200 (2010)).

The legislature clearly intended that courts be given deference under the SCCPC. S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2) provides:

[w]ith respect to a consumer credit transaction, if the court as a matter of law finds that a person has engaged in, is engaging in, or is likely to engage in unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt arising from that transaction...the consumer has a cause of action to recover actual damages and...a right to recover from the person violating this section a penalty in the amount determined by the court of not less than one hundred dollars nor more than one thousand dollars.

S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2). Thereafter, S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(5) states “in applying [S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2)] **consideration shall be given to each of the following factors**” before setting forth conduct the court should consider when deciding whether a creditor “has engaged in, is engaging in, or is likely to engage in unconscionable conduct” in violation of section 37-5-108(2) (emphasis added).

The SCCPC is clear that a private cause of action and right to recover damages exists only “if the court as a matter of law finds that a person has engaged in, is engaging in, or is likely to engage in **unconscionable conduct** in collecting a debt.” S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2) (emphasis added). The SCCPC is equally clear that section 37-5-108(5) sets forth “factors” to be given “consideration” in determining whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct. Adams’ strained interpretation of the SCCPC, which would require a finding of liability if a creditor engages in any conduct listed as “factor” under section 37-5-108(5), is untenable.

“The words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning.” *Odom v. Town of McBee Election Comm’n*, 427 S.C. 305, 310–11, 831 S.E.2d 429, 432 (2019). “Consideration” is defined as “continuous and careful thought” or “a matter weighed or taken into account when formulating an opinion or plan.” ADVANCE MERRIAM-WEBSTER DICTIONARY (2021), *available at*

<http://www.merriam-webster.com>. A “factor” is “one of several things that cause or influence something.” OXFORD LEARNER’S DICTIONARY (2021), available at <https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/us>. Giving the words of the statute their plain and ordinary meaning, it is clear that the legislature intended for the “factors” in section 37-5-108(5) to be taken into account when the court makes the ultimate determination of whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct. Thus, while the trial court, in its discretion, may find that a single activity or event rises to the level of being “unconscionable conduct,” the SCCPC does not require such a finding. Adams’ argument that section 37-5-108(5) sets forth conduct which is *per se* unconscionable is unsupported by the language of the statute. Had the legislature intended to impose liability for any proven violation of the factors set forth in section 37-5-108(5), without affording any deference to the trial judge, it would have done so with specific language.

The cases cited by Adams are unpersuasive. Neither *Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Smith*, 398 S.C. 487, 730 S.E.2d 328 (Ct. App. 2012)<sup>5</sup> nor *In re Zenner*, 348 S.C. 499, 501, 560 S.E.2d 406, 407 (2002) address the matter at issue in this appeal. In *Wells Fargo Bank v. Smith*, this Court confirmed that the court, not a jury, makes the finding of unconscionability. See *Wells Fargo Bank, NA v. Smith*, 398 S.C. at 497—98, 560 S.E.2d at 334. It does not support Adams’ argument that a trial court has no discretion to determine whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct. *In re Zenner* is an attorney discipline matter with no discussion of the deference given to courts in deciding a violation of the SCCPC. See *In re Zenner*, 348 S.C. at 505—07, 560 S.E.2d at 409—10.

---

<sup>5</sup> Adams correctly notes that the Supreme Court ordered this opinion to be depublished and of no precedential value. See *Wells Fargo Bank NA v. Smith*, 2014 WL 2887651, at \*1 (S.C. June 11, 2014).

Adams' reliance on the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act ("FDCPA") is also misplaced. Adams cites *Allen ex rel. Martin v. LaSalle Bank, N.A.*, 629 F.3d 364 (3d. Cir. 2011) for the proposition that the FDCPA is a strict liability statute, and he argues that "the strict liability standard of the FDCPA should be applied when interpreting the SCCPC as well."<sup>6</sup> (Appellant's Brief p. 8). However, the language of the FDCPA is decidedly different than that of the SCCPC. 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e) states "[a] debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, ***the following conduct is a violation of this section.***" Subsections (1) through (16) of section 1692(e) then set forth conduct which is explicitly "a violation" of the FDCPA. *See* 15 U.S.C. § 1692(e)(1) – (16).<sup>7</sup> However, unlike the FDCPA, the SCCPC does not explicitly state that certain conduct is a violation of the statute that gives rise to liability. Instead, section 37-5-108 sets forth "factors" to be given "consideration" in deciding whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt. The language of the SCCPC is clearly distinguishable from that of the FDCPA.

The SCCPC is clear that the trial court has discretion, after giving consideration to the factors in section 37-5-108, in deciding whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct. The Master-in-Equity's ruling should be affirmed.

---

<sup>6</sup> *Allen ex rel. Martin* held that "[t]he FDCPA is a strict liability statute to the extent it imposes liability without proof of an intentional violation." *Allen ex rel. Martin*, 629 F.3d at 368.

<sup>7</sup> Other provisions of the FDCPA are also clear that other conduct is "a violation" of the FDCPA. *See e.g.*, 15 U.S.C.A. §1692(f) (A debt collector may not use unfair or unconscionable means to collect or attempt to collect any debt. Without limiting the general application of the foregoing, ***the following conduct is a violation of this section....***) (emphasis added).

**B. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That a \$9.08 Difference in the Amount Alleged to be Owed in the Two Complaints Was Not Unconscionable Conduct in Collecting a Debt.**

Adams claims that 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin “falsely represented” the amount owed by Adams in violation of the SCCPC when it filed two separate lawsuits, five months apart, which alleged different amounts were owed. (*See* Second Amended Answer and Counterclaims ¶ 12). In April 2016, 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin filed an action in Magistrate’s Court alleging Adams owed \$4,351.24. *See 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin Financial Corporation v. Roby A. Adams*, Civil Action 2016-CV-18-10302148. That action was dismissed, without prejudice. Then, in September 2016, 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin filed this action alleging Adams owed \$4,342.16—\$9.08 less than the prior lawsuit. Based solely upon the differing amounts in the two lawsuits, Adams alleged that 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin “falsely represented” the amount owed by Adams in violation of the SCCPC. Adams’ claim relies on S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(2), which as discussed above, prohibits unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt. More specifically, Adams relies on the “factor” set forth in section 37-5-108(5)(c)(i), which cautions against “using fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading representations in connection with the collection of a consumer credit transaction,” including “false representations” of the “character, amount, or legal status of any debt.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108(5)(c)(i).

It is undisputed that the lawsuit filed in April 2016 alleged \$9.08 more was owed than the lawsuit filed in September 2016. The precise reason for the differing amounts is unclear. During her deposition, 1st Franklin’s branch manager testified that she believes the difference may have been due to calculating the loan’s payoff on a specific day versus the loan’s “charge-off amount.” (T. Schwerin Depo. 20: 4 – 18). Significantly, during his deposition Adams admitted that he did not contend a specific amount was due, and that he was unaware of the amount he owed to 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin. Adams testified as follows:

Q: According to paragraph 12 [of the counterclaims] you allege, "That, upon information and belief, the Plaintiff has falsely represented the amount allegedly owed and that it is asserted that two different amounts are owed in two separate complaints." How do you know that both of those numbers -- if one of those numbers is false or both of them are false, how do you know that?

A: This was handled by my attorney. I wasn't even there. I mean, you know, like I explained earlier, you know, he'd gotten documents to where there was two different amounts.

\*\*\*

I said they were false, because there were two different amounts.

Q: But you don't have any -- again, you can't tell me how many payments you've made on this loan so you don't know what the actual -- what you're saying what the actual amount is due and owing, right?

A: Right.

(Adams Depo. 18:16—19:3; 19:8; 20:11—15).

The Master-In-Equity, after considering the record before him, determined that the \$9.08 reduction in the amount alleged in the current action was not, as a matter of law, unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt. The Master-in-Equity found that “[i]n three years of litigation [Adams] has provided no evidence in the record upon which the court could find that 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin falsely represented the amount owed in a manner that could, even viewed in the light most favorable to [Adams], be characterized as ‘fraudulent, deceptive or misleading’ or ‘unconscionable’” (Order at \*8).

This Court should affirm the Master-in-Equity’s ruling. According to Adams, the fact that the first complaint alleged that Adams owed \$9.08 more than the second complaint is, without more, a violation of the SCCPC. (Hearing Trans. 75:17—76:5). During the hearing, Adams’ counsel unequivocally stated that if a creditor alleges a certain amount is owed in a complaint, and that amount is, for whatever reason, later determined to be incorrect, the creditor has falsely represented the amount of the debt in violation of the SCCPC. (Hearing Trans. 75:17—76:5).

Adams' brief makes the same argument, stating: "It is clear that the \$9.08 overcharge in the first lawsuit was a false representation of the amount of [Adams'] debt. This alone is sufficient to make it 'fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading' under S.C. Code Sec. 37-5-108(5)(c)(1) [sic], which then makes it 'unconscionable' debt collection conduct under S.C. Code Sec. 37-5-108(2)." (Appellant's Brief p. 12). This overly simplistic approach fails.

As set forth above, the SCCPC prohibits "unconscionable conduct in collecting a debt." It does not impose liability when a creditor, in good faith, recalculates the amount of the debt then claims that the debtor actually owes a lower amount. Adams failed to (and cannot) present *any* evidence even suggesting that 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin engaged in "fraudulent, deceptive or misleading" or "unconscionable" conduct. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 37-5-108(2); 37-5-108(5)(c)(i). The fact that 1<sup>st</sup> Franklin's branch manager was unable to explain the precise reason as to why the amounts in the complaints varied by \$9.08 does not lead to a different result.<sup>8</sup> At the summary judgment stage, the opposing party "must come forward with specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). Here, Adams did nothing more than point to the fact that the two complaints alleged different amounts were owed.<sup>9</sup> More is required. As the Master-in-Equity's noted,

[a]ccepting [Adams'] argument would lead to a finding of liability any time an amount alleged in a complaint by a creditor is, for whatever reason, found to be

---

<sup>8</sup> Although Adams appears to acknowledge that whether a creditor has engaged in unconscionable conduct is a question of law, he argues that issues of fact over the \$9.08 difference in the complaints create an issue of fact which precludes summary judgment. (Appellant's Brief p. 9).

<sup>9</sup> On appeal, Adams shockingly argues he was denied an opportunity to present his full argument on this issue at the hearing. (*See* Appellant's Brief at p. 13). Adams chose not to file a substantive brief in opposition to 1st Franklin's motion for summary judgment prior to the hearing. Further, the hearing began at 10:12 a.m. and ended at 12:06 p.m., almost two hours later. A vast majority of the hearing was Adams' argument in opposition. Any additional time would have required "special permission of the court." S.C. Code Ann. § 40-5-330 ("No attorney, solicitor or counsellor shall be allowed to occupy more than two hours of the time of the court in the argument of any cause, unless he shall first obtain the special permission of the court to do so.") Regardless, Adams cannot escape that the alleged "false representation" is a \$9.08 difference in the two complaints. The fact that a letter may have referenced the higher amount or that 1st Franklin's branch manager may have mentioned the higher amount in her deposition is immaterial. (*See* Appellant's Brief at p. 13).

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